IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

KELSEY RUSHING and YUMEKA RUSHING

APPELLANTS

VS.

NO. 2010-CA-00037

TRUSTMARK NATIONAL BANK

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Pursuant to Rule 28 of the *Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure*, the undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Kelsey Rushing, Plaintiff/Appellant
- 2. Yumeka Rushing, Plaintiff/Appellant
- 3. Trustmark National Bank, Defendant/Appellee

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The Plaintiffs below and Appellants herein are Kelsey Rushings and Yemeka Rushing. They are referred to herein sometimes as "the Rushings" and sometimes as "the Plaintiffs". The Defendant below and Appellee herein is Trustmark National Bank. It is referred to herein as "the Bank".

The Rushings present the following issues for review by the Court:

- I. The lower court erred in granting the Bank's motion for summary judgment because genuine issues of material facts exist concerning the Bank's actions in this cause, which must be decided by the trier of fact.
- II. The lower court erred in finding that the Rushings waived their claims when they executed renewal and new loan documents.
- III. The lower court erred in granting the summary judgment because other disputed questions of fact exist, which can only be decided by the trier of fact.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

The Bank makes construction loans covering residential housing through its Residential Construction Lending Department. Carl Sandberg is Vice-President and Commercial Relationship Manager of that department of the Bank. [RE. 6, 264] The Plaintiffs were referred to Sandberg by the builder who bided for the construction work of a new home on the Plaintiffs' land. [RE. 203-204] Sandberg, under the authority of the Bank, made an interim construction loan to the Plaintiffs for that construction. At the loan closing, Sandberg instructed the Plaintiffs as to the manner in which the Bank would handle the line of credit to be extended, the inspections that the Bank would conduct, and the verification the Bank would complete before the Bank would disburse loan proceeds to the builder. [RE. 206, 214, 386-388] After construction work had been on-going for five months, the Plaintiffs were informed by the local homeowner's association that there were problems with construction of the home. The Plaintiffs informed the builder of the problems and halted construction on the home. [RE. 7, 216-217] The Plaintiffs also contacted Mr. Sandberg to request that he stop all payments to the builder. [RE. 7, 219, 222] The Plaintiffs were also informed by Madison County government inspectors that the construction will fail mandatory construction standards if major corrections were not made. [RE, 537-538] The builder subsequently informed the Plaintiffs that he was going to quit work on the new construction to cut his losses. [RE. 7] In order to complete construction of their home in a proper manner, the Plaintiffs hired another builder and were required to extend their initial construction line of credit and obtain additional lines of credit from the Bank. [RE. 7, 538] The Plaintiffs obtained a permanent mortgage with another financial institution to pay off the lines of credit with the Bank. After the Plaintiffs determined the extent of their damages, which resulted from the disbursement of funds by Carl Sandberg and the Bank to the original builder without insuring that the construction work was properly performed or completed, they sued the Bank and the builder. [RE. 12, 235-237, 408-412, 537-538].

B. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

On May 8, 2008, the Rushings' Complaint was filed in the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi and named as defendants, Trustmark National Bank, Louie Hale, John L. Hale d/b/a Hale Construction, Lamar Shumaker d/b/a Shumaker Properties, Inc. and John Does 1-10. The Rushings seek recovery from the Bank on the grounds of negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, civil conspiracy, breach of contract, and detrimental reliance. The Rushings seek damages from Louie Hale, John L. Hale d/b/a Hale Construction and Lamar Shumaker d/b/a Shumaker Properties, Inc., on the grounds of negligence, fraud, civil conspiracy, vicarious liability, and breach of contract. ¹ The Rushings pray for an entry of judgment awarding them \$500,000.00 in compensatory damages and \$1,000,000.00 in punitive damages as well as attorney's fees and other damages. [RE. 4-13, 359-362, 534-555] The Bank filed its answer on July 11, 2008. [RE. 14-29]. Lamar Shumaker filed his separate answer on September 9, 2008. [RE. 36-39] The Rushings made several attempts to serve the Summons and Complaint upon John L. Hale, but were not able to locate him. Louie Hale failed to answer the Complaint after the Summons and Complaint was served upon him and an Entry of Default was made against him. [RE. 30-35].

After extensive discovery was conducted by the Bank and the Rushings, the Bank filed a motion for summary judgment or in the alternative for declaratory Relief on August 28, 2009. [RE.

¹After the completion of discovery and in response to the Bank's *Motion for Summary Judgment or in the alternative, for Declaratory Relief*, the Plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed their claims of fraud and civil conspiracy that were contained in the Complaint.

110-110-122, 338-358] The Bank made the following allegations in its motion:

- The Rushings waived their claims against the Bank when they executed renewals of the of their construction loan and obtained new money from the Bank;
- 2. The Rushings' claims against the Bank are time-barred;
- The Bank, as a construction lender did not owe the Rushings any duties separate and apart from its written loan agreement to which it complied.
- The Rushings' claims should be dismissed on the grounds that damages were not established with reasonably certainty.
- 5. The Rushings' separate claims are deficient as a matter of law on the following grounds:
 - a. The Bank did not owe a fiduciary duty to the Plaintiffs;
 - b. The Rushings' breach of contract claim is deficient;
 - The Rushings' tort claims are deficient and should be dismissed on the following grounds;
 - (i) The tort claims are duplicative of the breach of contract claim;
 - (ii) The negligence claim is deficient;
 - (iii) The detrimental reliance claim is deficient;
 - (iv) Sufficient evidence has not been produced for the claim of fraud against the Bank; and
 - (v) Sufficient evidence has not been produced to advance a

claim of civil conspiracy against the Bank.

6. The Bank asserted in the alternative that if its motion is denied the cause should be tried as a bench trial because the Plaintiffs executed loan instruments that contain waivers of the right to a jury trial.

The Rushings filed a written response to the Bank's motion on September 21, 2009. [RE. 359-362, 534-555] The Rushings and the Bank filed briefs and exhibits including excerpts of deposition transcripts and written discovery responses in support of their relative positions. On October 5, 2009, the Bank and the Rushings stipulated that the cause should be tried by the Court as a bench trial. On this same day, Circuit Court Judge W. Swan Yerger heard oral argument on the Bank's motion and by order dated, November 13, 2009, granted the Bank's motion solely on the Bank's first argument which contends that the Plaintiffs waived any cause of action that the Plaintiffs may have had against the Bank when the Plaintiffs executed renewal notes and additional notes for the additional loan they needed. [RE. 567-571] After entry of Judge Yerger's *Final Judgment* on November 17, 2009, the Rushings filed their *Notice of Appeal* on December 16, 2009. [RE. 570-573]

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Kelsey Rushing and Yumeka Rushing purchased a lot in the Panther Creek subdivision in 2002. Soon after the purchase, the Rushings began to speak to a few builders about constructing a family home on the lot for them and their daugther. The Rushings are practicing attorneys with Kelsey Rushing having since been appointed as the Municipal Judge for Canton, Mississippi, but neither attorney had previously purchased or constructed a home and they were not knowledgeable about mortgages, construction loans and the particular legalities associated with real estate finance

and related commercial transactions. [RE. 370-72, 418-20]

Yumeka Rushing testified in a sworn deposition that she and Kelsey Rushing sought construction financing from the Bank's officer, Carl Sandberg because of the recommendation of John Hale. [RE. 377] The Rushings became acquainted with John Hale and his relative, Louie Hale in 2002 as the result of Yumeka Rushing's visits to her mother's home located in the Windward Bluff subdivision in Brandon, Mississippi. [RE. 365, 367-68] Yumeka Rushing learned that Shumaker Properties built the residential structures in Windward Bluff and during one of those visits to her mother's home, she left a note with a building crew at the subdivision for the builder to contact her about building a home for the Rushings. Within a few days, Louie Hale met with Yumeka Rushing while she was visiting her mother and identified himself as a representative of Shumaker Properties. [RE. 367-68, 535] Subsequently, under the name of Shumaker Properties Louie Hale submitted a construction estimate to build the family home and the Rushings accepted the proposal from Shumaker Properties as the lowest bid. [RE. 377] The next step for the Rushings involved getting construction financing but due to financial reasons they waited for two years after accepting the bid from Louie Hale and Shumaker Properties before seeking help from lenders. When they did make application with several banks, they were unsuccessful until they met the Bank's Carl Sandberg in November, 2004. [RE. 377-78, 424]

Acting on the advice of John Hale, Yumeka Rushing made contact with Carl Sandberg on either October or November of 2004 by telephone to schedule a meeting with him. Shortly thereafter, the Rushings met with Sandberg in his office. Sandberg represented that he [the Bank] was working with the Hales on another house and that the Hales did good work. [RE. 377-79, 408] The Rushings submitted a loan application package to Carl Sandberg that consisted of copies of the

same documents that they had already put together for the other banks that had denied their loan application. [RE. 378-79, 426] Those documents included the builder's license belonging to Shumaker Properties furnished by John Hale and the cost estimate submitted by Louie Hale on behalf of Shumaker Properties. Upon review of the package, Sandberg, on behalf of the Bank, assured the Rushings that he would get the loan application package approved. [RE. 374-75, 378]

Sandberg did, in fact, obtain approval of the Rushings' loan application and held the closing of the loan on December 24, 2004 in his office. At the closing the Rushings met with Sandberg, John Hale, and Louie Hale. [RE. 380-81, 427] Sandberg had the Rushings to execute and deliver several documents including a Building Contract involving John Hale in order to complete the closing on their initial construction loan in the amount of \$420,282.50. [RE. 374, 421, 426, 459-460, 465-66, 482-85] After handling the loan closing, Sandberg had the Rushings and the Hales to remain in his office to discuss the manner in which the financial draws would be managed. Sandberg explained that the Bank would implement a process for the Rushings' construction loan that the Bank has followed in the past with other construction loans involving John Hale as the builder. That process is that after the builder makes a request for a draw, the Bank would complete a bank verification procedure and disburse funds directly to the builder's account with the Bank, based upon analysis of the work completed. The Rushings agreed that the Bank would function in this fiduciary role for the proper disbursement of the loan proceeds. [RE. 385-89,428-30, 466-67] Corroboration of this agreement and the Rushings' reliance upon the Bank's role is also found in the Rushings payment of an inspection fee required by the Bank. [RE. 388]

John and Louie Hale began construction of the Rushings' family home in the following month, which was January 2005. [RE. 391] As the work on the home progressed, the Bank issued

draw checks to the Hales, which were deposited directly into the account of the Hales. The Bank made five or more of these deposits of draw checks. The Rushings occasionally received copies of the draw checks from the Bank by mail. [RE. 391, 431-32] On or about May 31, 2005, the President of the Homeowners Association for the Rushings' subdivision contacted the Rushings to voice concerns about serious problems with the construction of the house. [RE. 394, 432] As a result, Yumeka Rushing contacted Madison County government offices to schedule a county inspection. [RE. 396-97, 406-07, 413] The Rushings paid for the independent inspection conducted by the Madison County inspectors, which proved to be money well spent. [RE. 396, 406-07, 413] The Madison County government officials informed the Rushings that the present state of construction of the home would fail mandatory county inspections. It was pointed out that to fix the problems the Rushings would have to at least tear off the roof construction and they may have to tear down the entire structure down to the slab. [RE. 396, 406-07, 413, 440]

Alarmed by these findings, the Rushings stopped all work on the construction of their home and contacted Sandberg at the Bank. The Rushings informed Sandberg of the problems and asked Sandberg to make no further payments to the Hales. [RE. 394-97, 432, 434] Meanwhile, on or about June 1, 2005, Louie Hale contacted Yumeka Rushing by telephone and stated that he wanted to quit work on the home construction and cut his losses. The Rushings subsequently held several telephonic and in person discussions with Sandberg concerning the constructions problems and the payments made by the Bank to the Hales. They explained to Sandberg that he had paid out loan money for substandard work and for work that had not been completed. Yumeka Rushing testified during her sworn deposition that at one of the meetings with Sandberg, the Rushings asked Sandberg for an accounting, but Sandberg presented nothing but a draw sheet and stated that "he might have

been generous with the last draw" (that he deposited into the builder's account at the Bank). [RE. 394-403, 432-441] Also during this meeting Sandberg checked the balance remaining in the Hales' checking account with the Bank and informed the Rushing that 80 to 90 percent of the draw transferred into the Hales account from the Rushings' line of credit was still in the Hales' account. [RE. 376, 401-02, 434] Upon hearing this information the Rushings asked Sandberg to stop payment of the draw from the Hales' account due to the construction problems and the realization that the money would be needed to correct the construction deficiencies as pointed out by the Madison County inspectors. But, Sandberg refused. [RE. 186]

At this point, because the Hales had not completed the work on the home and because the Hales were paid for defective construction, incomplete work, and materials that were not furnished, the Rushings were forced to extend that initial construction line of credit from the Bank and obtain additional lines of credit from the Bank in order to prevent a total lose on the home and hire another builder to make repairs and complete the construction of their new home. [RE. 404-05, 409, 442, 445-46] Therefore, the Rushings executed additional promissory notes with the Bank on December 29, 2005 and on April 3, 2006. [RE. 495-508, 564-65]

The Rushings hired Slaughter's Residential Design to complete the construction. The construction of the Rushings' home was completed during the middle part of 2006. The Plaintiffs' permanent mortgage with another financial institution in the sum of \$645,000.00 was used to pay off the lines of credit that were owed to the Bank. [RE. 446-47, 509-13]²

The Rushings filed this suit against the Bank based upon the Bank's actions and omissions

²The Rushings closed the loan on the permanent mortgage in April, 2006. Trustmark Bank's account summaries showing the amount owed on the extended and new notes are part of the record excerpts. [RE. 514-17]

and the actions and omissions of its agent, Carl Sandberg. The complaint, which also names the Hales as additional defendants, asserts various claims against the Bank including breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, negligence, fraud, detrimental reliance and civil conspiracy. [RE. 518-527]³

As previously noted, the Bank moved for summary judgment on several grounds. On November 12, 2009, Hinds County Circuit Court Judge W. Swan Yerger granted summary judgment for the Bank on the grounds that the Rushings waived any potential claim they may have had against the Bank when "they continued to renew their loan agreement with Trustmark, despite the Plaintiffs' awareness of the cause(s) of action they intended to pursue against Trustmark." The trial court found that the "Plaintiffs' waiver is dispositive" and it was unnecessary to consider any additional arguments presented by the parties.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

An applicant for a summary judgment cannot prevail unless it can be shown that there are no genuine issues of material facts in the case and the applicant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. In the instant case, the Rushings presented summary judgment evidence to show that there were several disputed fact questions that could only be decided by a trier of fact. More specifically, the Rushings offered evidence of sworn deposition testimony as well as supporting documents to show that they did not waive their claims against the Bank. In that connection, the Rushings presented sufficient evidence to prove that the facts of their case are clearly distinguishable from the facts of *Gay v. First National Bank*, 172 Miss. 681, 160 So. 904 (Miss. 1935) and its progeny. This Court

³As described above, the claims of fraud and civil conspiracy were dismissed on September 21, 2009. [RE. 359]

has recognized such distinctions in the past and held that the cases, as relied upon by the trial court in the case, *sub juice*, are not applicable. In contrast to the facts of the cases cited by the trial court, the Rushings' claims were not asserted as defenses to a note or in reaction to a collection action by a lender or creditor. In addition, the Rushings were never in an adverse position to the Bank with respect to payment of their indebtedness to the Bank.

Further, there were other disputed questions of fact regarding other claims made by the Rushings, which the trial court completely ignored in considering the Bank's motion for summary judgment. This Court has found that justice is the criterion that the trial courts should adhere to when considering a motion for summary judgment and this criterion contemplates that the lower courts should sufficiently explore all of the facts in a case.

The trial court did not view the evidence in a light most favorable to the Rushings and erroneously granted the Bank's motion for summary judgment.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

In repeated holdings, this Court has instructed trial courts that applications for summary judgment cannot survive under Rule 56(c) of the *Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure* unless the moving party can prove that no genuine issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Please see *Erby v. North Mississippi Med. Ctr.*, 654 So. 2d 495, 499 (Miss. 1995) and *Short v. Columbus Rubber and Gasket Co.*, 535 So.2d 61, 63-64 (Miss. 1988). The official comment to Rule 56 states:

A motion for summary judgment lies only when there is no genuine issue of material fact; summary judgment is not a substitute for the trial of disputed fact issues. Accordingly, the court cannot try issues of fact on a Rule 56 motion; it may only determine whether there are issues to be tried. Given this

function, the court examines the affidavits or other evidence introduced on a Rule 56 motion *simply* to determine whether a triable issue exists, *rather than* for the purpose of resolving that issue. Similarly, although *the summary judgment procedure* is well adapted to expose sham claims and defenses, it cannot be used to deprive a litigant of a full trial of genuine fact issues.

(Emphasis added)

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