IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2010-CA-00037

KELSEY RUSHING AND YUMEKA RUSHING

PLAINTIFFS/ APPELLANTS

VS.

TRUSTMARK NATIONAL BANK

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi First Judicial District Case No. 251-08-366CIV

BRIEF OF APPELLEE TRUSTMARK NATIONAL BANK

(Oral Argument Not Requested)

Christopher A. Shapley, Esq., MSB N William Trey Jones, III, Esq., MSB N Christopher R. Fontan, Esq., MSB N BRUNINI, GRANTHAM, GROWER & HEWES, PLLC 190 East Capitol Street, Suite 100 Post Office Drawer 119 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: (601) 948-3101

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

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly granted Trustmark's motion for summary judgment because the Rushings waived all of their claims when they extended and expanded their loan with Trustmark—with knowledge of the underlying facts giving rise to their cause of action against

⁵ The Rushings admit this point in their Brief. See Appellant's Brief at 9.

Trustmark. The Mississippi Supreme Court and Mississippi Court of Appeals have repeatedly held that such actions on the part of the borrower constitute a waiver of any claims against the lender. The Rushings' attempt to muddy this clear and established rule of law through manufactured and irrelevant distinctions is insufficient to create any basis to disturb the lower court's ruling. The Rushings' waiver of their claims is dispositive of this appeal, and the trial court's judgment should be affirmed on this basis alone.

Additionally, the undisputed facts show that Trustmark fully complied with all duties it owed to the Rushings under the written loan agreement. Moreover, each of the Rushings' separate and remaining claims for breach of contract, negligence, breach of fiduciary duty and detrimental reliance are deficient as a matter of law. While the trial court did not rely on these separate deficiencies in granting summary judgment, this appellate court is justified in also affirming the grant of summary judgment for these reasons. For each and all of these reasons, Trustmark was entitled to summary judgment pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 56©. Accordingly, the trial court's judgment should be affirmed.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The standard for reviewing the granting or denying of summary judgment is the same standard as is employed by the trial court under Rule 56(c). Wininger v. Ameristar Casino, Inc., 760 So.2d 1, 3 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). This Court conducts de novo review of orders granting or denying summary judgment and looks at all the evidentiary matters before it. Id. The rule in Mississippi is that summary judgments shall be entered by a trial judge "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter

of law." See Doe v. Stegall, 900 So.2d 363, 365-366 (Miss. 2003) (citing MRCP 56(c)). If, in this view, the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, summary judgment should forthwith be entered in his favor. Wininger, 760 So.2d at 3.

To withstand a motion for summary judgment, the plaintiffs must come forward with "significant probative evidence to support each essential element of . . . [their] claims" *Mallery v. Taylor*, 805 So.2d 613, 620 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). No such evidence exists in this case. The Rushings' "[c]onclusory allegations, bare assertions, and speculations do not suffice" to defeat Trustmark's motion for summary judgment. *Id.* at 620; *Stuckey v. The Provident Bank*, 912 So.2d 859, 865 (Miss. 2005). The trial court correctly granted Trustmark's motion because the record in this case, taken as a whole, could not lead any rational trier of fact to find for the Plaintiffs on their claims. *See Lampley v. United States*, 17 F.Supp.2d 609, 613 (N.D. Miss. 1998).

B. The Trial Court Correctly Ruled that the Rushings Waived Their Claims by Executing New and Renewal Loan Documents with Knowledge of the Facts Underlying Their Claims Against Trustmark.

The trial court correctly ruled that the Rushings waived all of their claims against Trustmark. The case law from the Mississippi Supreme Court and the Mississippi Court of Appeals on the "waiver" doctrine stands for one basic proposition: where a borrower has knowledge of the facts giving rise to a claim of wrongdoing against a lender in relation to a contract (i.e., breach of contract, misrepresentation, etc.), the borrower cannot affirm the contract and continue to accept the benefits of contract and then complain about the alleged wrongdoing at a later date. *See Gay v. First National* Bank, 172 Miss. 681, 160 So. 904 (Miss. 1935); *Citizens National Bank v. Waltman*, 344 So.2d 725, 727-28 (Miss. 1977); *Austin Dev. Co. v. Bank of Meridian (Branch of Great S. Nat'l Bank)*, 569 So.2d 1209, 1213 (Miss. 1990); *Holland v. Peoples Bank & Trust Company*, 3 So.3d 94, 103 (Miss. 2008); *Knox v. BancorpSouth Bank*, 37 So.3d 1257, 1261-62 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010). The

Mississippi Supreme Court and Court of Appeals have held on multiple occasions that, by renewing or re-executing a loan agreement with knowledge of the facts constituting a cause of action against the lender, the borrower waives all defenses and causes of action that he had against the bank. *Gay*, 160 So. at 905; *Waltman*, 344 So.2d at 728; *Austin* 569 So.2d at 1213; *Holland*, 3 So.3d at 103; *Knox*, 37 So.3d at 1262. Moreover, the Mississippi Supreme Court has applied this doctrine in cases in which the borrower, just as this case, accused the lender of a variety of tortious behavior. *Waltman*, 344 So.2d at 728; *Austin* 569 So.2d at 1213; *Holland*, 3 So.3d at 103; *Knox*, 37 So.3d at 1262.

The Mississippi Supreme Court and Court of Appeals have applied this "waiver" principle in a number of different circumstances. For example, in *Gay*, the lender filed the initial suit against the borrower to collect on an unpaid account. 160 So. at 905. During the lawsuit, the borrower claimed that the bank committed wrongdoing in the handling of the account. *Id.* The Supreme Court held that, because the borrower knew of the bank's alleged wrongdoing and still executed multiple renewals of his contract with the bank, the borrower waived these claims of wrongdoing. *Id.*

In Waltman, a borrower alleged that her lending bank was liable for fraud, tortious coercion and negligence. 344 So.2d at 727. The Mississippi Supreme Court held that it did not even need to address the merits of the plaintiffs' claims, as it "reached the inescapable conclusion that by executing the last renewal note . . . with full knowledge of the surrounding circumstances, [the plaintiff] waived any cause of action she might have had against the Bank." Id.

Similarly, in *Austin*, two borrowers challenged a trial court's ruling that they had waived all claims they had against their bank for negligence and other liability. 569 So.2d at 1211-12. Affirming the lower court's ruling, the Mississippi Supreme Court explained that the plaintiffs were aware of their cause of action against the bank but then still later executed renewals of their loans

with the bank. *Id.* at 1213. Accordingly, the borrowers had waived "any... cause of action that [they] had against the bank." *Id.* (emphasis added).

The doctrine of waiver set forth in *Gay, Austin* and *Waltman* is not a new concept. The Mississippi Supreme Court has defined "waiver" as "an *election* of the party to forgo some advantage which he might have, *at his option*, insisted upon." *See Vicksburg Waterworks Co. v. J.M Guffy Petroleum Co.*, 86 Miss. 60, 38 So. 302, 309 (1905) (emphasis added). In Mississippi, this waiver/election can be expressed, or it can be inferred from the actions and conduct of the parties. *See Brent Towing v. Scott Petroleum Corporation*, 735 So.2d 355, 359 (Miss. 1999). In fact, the Supreme Court emphasized that "where a contracting party, with knowledge of a breach by the other party, receives money in the performance of a contract, he will be held to have waived the breach." *Id.* (citing 17A Am. Jur. 2d *Contracts* §663).

Mississippi's federal courts have also followed this same "waiver" principle set forth by the Mississippi Supreme Court and Court of Appeals. *See Henley v. American Reliable Insurance Company*, 2002 WL 31051003, at *2 (N.D. Miss. Aug. 23, 2002); *see also, In Re Little*, 126 B.R. 861, 868-869 (Bankr. N.D. Miss. 1991) (dismissing lender liability claims against the bank). In *Henley*, three individual borrowers entered into various loan contracts, and they alleged the defendant committed fraud, negligence and misrepresentation which lead the borrowers to purchase credit life insurance. 2002 WL 31051003, at *1. In granting summary judgment to the lenders, the federal trial court ruled that the plaintiffs waived any claims of fraud or other misconduct when they renewed their loans with the lenders. *Id.* (citing *Austin*, *inter alia*).

The Rushings executed their original construction loan/line of credit in December 2004. As early as June 2005, the Rushings believed that they had claims against Trustmark in connection with their construction. [R. at 162, 229-230] (R.E. 4). Specifically, the Plaintiffs admitted in their

depositions that they "knew" at that point that they were going to "have to" sue Trustmark over what they believed was the bank's misconduct with the construction. [R. at 162, 229-230] (R.E. 4). Yet, despite this knowledge, the Rushings later executed multiple renewals of their construction loan in June 2005, December 2005 and March 2006. [R. at 164-165, 228, 234] (R.E. 4, 5). Additionally, the Rushings later obtained from Trustmark additional advances related to the line of credit in December 2005 and April 2006. [R. at 164-165, 228, 234] (R.E. 4, 5).

In their depositions, the Rushings testified that:

Q: All right. So after you went in and met with Mr. Sandberg and expressed your concerns to him and realized that you believe[d] that the bank had paid money for work it had not done and potentially did other things improperly, you did maintain your relationship with the bank and later renew your loan with them, correct?

A: I didn't have a choice

(R.E. 4 at 564). The Rushings further testified that:

Q: After you met with Mr. Sandberg, you meet with Trustmark, you believe he paid money for work that's not been done, you believe they've done other things improperly, you still renewed your loan twice with Trustmark National Bank, you renewed your construction loan; isn't that correct?

A: It's correct that I had to mitigate my damages and try to get the house finished.

Q: Okay. You didn't go to another bank to get that funding, you stayed with Trustmark, didn't you?

A: I did.

(R.E. 4 at 565). By renewing, extending and expanding the scope of their December 2004 loan/line of credit with Trustmark—with undisputed knowledge of the facts constituting their cause of action against their lender, the Rushings waived "any cause of action [they] might have had against the Bank." *Austin*, 569 So.2d at 1213; *Waltman*, 344 So.2d at 727.

The Rushings do not dispute that they knew the facts underlying their claims of wrongdoing against Trustmark at the time they renewed and expanded their line of credit with Trustmark. Instead, in their Brief, the Rushings try to cloud this clear rule of law to create an issue of fact where none exists. Primarily, the Rushings argue that the rule of waiver only applies to situations in which a plaintiff is asserting a defense or a counterclaim in response to a collection claim from a lender. See Appellant's Brief at 15, 17. This is an erroneous interpretation of the case law, as the prior holdings of the Mississippi Supreme Court have rejected such a holding. See, e.g., Austin, 561 So.2d at 1213; Holland, 3 So.3d at 103. For example, in Austin, the Supreme Court affirmed the lower court ruling that expressly rejected this argument and stated that the debtor "legally waived any defense to the notes and any possible causes of action otherwise available to the [debtors] against [the lender] arising from the facts and circumstances known to the [debtors] at the times the renewal notes were executed and the interest was paid" 569 So.2d at 1211. The Rushings specifically cite this language in their own brief. See Appellant's Brief at 14.

The Mississippi Supreme Court further affirmed this "waiver" doctrine in a more recent holding. *Holland*, 3 So.3d at 94. In *Holland*, a borrower filed suit against his lender, alleging claims of negligence, fraud and breach of fiduciary duty. 3 So.3d at 97. The Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the lender. Relying on *Austin*, the Court held that, by renewing his promissory notes with knowledge his lender's supposed wrongdoing, the borrower "waived not only defenses to the notes but any possible causes of action otherwise available" to him, including a negligence claim. *Id.* at 103.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals again affirmed the waiver principle with its recent ruling in *Knox v. BancorpSouth Bank*, 37 So.3d 1257, 1261-62 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010). In *Knox*, a borrower filed a suit against a lender, alleging claims of breach of contract, tortious breach of contract,

promissory estoppel, equitable estoppel and infliction of mental anguish—all stemming from the borrower's execution of a line of credit with the bank. In affirming the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the lender, the Court of Appeals cited *Austin* in holding that the borrower had waived "his claim to any *cause of action that he had against BancorpSouth*." *Id.* at 1262. Like *Waltman, Austin* and *Holland*, the borrower's claims were not raised as a defense or counterclaim, and the Court of Appeals still applied the clear "waiver" rule. *Id.* The Rushings' argument that the rule of waiver only applies to situations in which a plaintiff is asserting a defense or a counterclaim in response to a claim from a lender is simply without merit, as nowhere in *Austin* or in any other decision has the Mississippi Supreme Court limited this waiver rule to "defenses or counterclaims."

The Rushings also argue that Trustmark's alleged knowledge that they were eventually going to have to extend and expand their loan defeats waiver. See Appellant's Brief at 15-16. This is another attempt by the Rushings to manufacture some distinction in the case law that does not exist. This Court has never even suggested that the lender's knowledge of a possible renewal is relevant to this issue. What Trustmark allegedly knew or did not know is immaterial to the issue, as even a casual reading of the precedent makes clear. See Austin, 569 So.2d at 1209.

Next, the Rushings allege that the trial court's holding is inappropriate because it is "too harsh." See Appellant's Brief at 17. In support of this contention, the Rushings allege that they had to obtain, extend and expand their line of credit with Trustmark in order to finish the construction on their home. The Mississippi Supreme Court previously addressed the potential "harshness" of the waiver rule, and held that it was not a factor to be considered by the judiciary. Specifically, the Supreme Court expressly rejected this argument in Austin, where the borrowers alleged that the court's application of the "waiver" rule was too "rigid," as that they were faced with "financial ruin"

if they did not renew the note. 569 So.2d at 1212. Likewise, the Mississippi Court of Appeals has ignored the alleged financial constraints of the borrower in strictly applying the waiver rule. *See Knox*, 37 So.3d at 1261 (Court of Appeals disregarded borrowers claims that he was "coerced" into renewing the note because he would have faced "financial disaster").

The Rushings also argue that the "waiver" doctrine requires the presence of an "adverse position on the indebtedness" between the parties. Appellant's Brief at 17-18. This is another distinction created by the Rushings' counsel, but with no support in the case law. In fact, the Rushings' did not cite one case in support of this so called distinction. And, in any event, the parties in this case clearly *were* in an "adverse position on the indebtedness." The Rushings owed a debt on their loan to Trustmark, and they claim that Trustmark wrongfully increased and incurred indebtedness on that loan.

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